THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000320  
Trial Court Case No. 2018-CP-23-05208

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 13 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Associated Receivables Funding, Inc., ..... Respondent,

vs.

Dunlap, Inc.; James Stephen Dunlap, an Individual; Dunlap Industrial  
Coating Services, Inc.; Dunlap Industrial Services, Inc.; Classic Industrial  
Services, Inc.; and Mark Beuerle, an Individual, ..... Defendants,

Of Which, Classic Industrial Services, Inc. is ..... Appellant.

---

**INITIAL OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error in holding Appellant liable for Respondent's damages under South Carolina Code § 36-9-607, in derogation of Appellant's rights under South Carolina Code § 36-9-404?
2. Did the trial court commit reversible error in holding Appellant liable to Respondent under a common-law theory of negligent misrepresentation, by not only misapplying the essential elements of the action, but also by failing to substantiate its determination of liability with evidentiary support?
3. Did the trial court commit reversible error in holding Appellant liable to Respondent under an equitable theory of promissory estoppel, by not only misapplying the essential elements of the action, but also by failing to substantiate its determination of liability with evidentiary support?
4. Did the trial court commit reversible error in determining the amount of damages for which Appellant is liable to Respondent, by failing to give due regard to Appellant's contractual rights with Defendant Dunlap, Inc., and by failing to appreciate the inequitable consequences that would result from a judgment that awards Respondent damages from Appellant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from what, at first blush, would seem to be nothing more than a garden-variety debt-collection action against a debtor and its personal guarantor. These ordinary claims, however, are not presently involved in these proceedings. Instead, in addition to the debt-collection portion of the underlying action, the plaintiff below—the Respondent in this appeal—also filed actions against Appellant, seeking to hold Appellant vicariously liable for the debt whose collection was sought. This, despite the fact that Appellant had neither an agreement with Respondent, nor had promised to personally guarantee any debt at issue. After a trial conducted without a jury on May 3, 2019, remarkably, Respondent prevailed, and a judgment was entered against Appellant in favor of Respondent in the amount of \$323,718.31. It is from this judgment, and the order under which it was created—entered on January 31, 2020, that this appeal is taken.

With regard to the material procedural circumstances of these proceedings, the underlying complaint was filed in the Court of Common Pleas of Greenville County on July 19, 2016. Initially, the case was indexed as Civil Action No. 2016-CP-23-04370. The complaint asserted three causes of action against Appellant: (1) enforcement of a security interest held by Respondent under South Carolina Code § 36-9-607; (2) negligent misrepresentation; and (3) fraudulent inducement. Appellant answered the complaint on September 27, 2016, and subsequently, filed a motion for summary judgment on March 7, 2017, which was denied.

On July 21, 2017, Respondent filed an amended complaint, which continued to assert three causes of action against Appellant. However, instead of including an action for fraudulent inducement, Respondent alleged promissory estoppel. The trial court

granted Respondent's motion for leave to amend by order dated August 31, 2017. Appellant filed its answer on September 28, 2017. For the purposes of this appeal, these are the operative pleadings.

On November 14, 2017, the parties stipulated to dismissal of the case pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCF. The case was restored to the active docket by order dated October 3, 2018. At that point, the civil action number became 2018-CP-23-05208, as reflected in the caption, above.

On January 2, 2019, Appellant filed a second motion for summary judgment, seeking judgment in its favor as a matter of law as to each of the actions asserted against it in the amended complaint. By order dated February 12, 2019, Appellant's motion was denied.

The matter proceeded to trial on May 3, 2019, though the only portion of the case tried pertained to Respondent's claim against Appellant. As previously referenced, the case was tried without a jury. Only two witnesses were called to testify. Respondent's witness was Kevin Gilbert, Respondent's executive vice president of operations. Appellant's witness was Jessica DeLaune, Appellant's controller. At the conclusion of testimony, both Appellant and Respondent moved for directed verdict. With regard to Appellant, the court inquired whether Appellant's motion was based upon the arguments presented in Appellant's previously filed-and-decided motions for summary judgment; counsel for Appellant affirmed that the bases were the same. The court declined to rule on the cross-motions for directed verdict at that time, but instead, invited both Appellant and Respondent to prepare and submit post-trial briefs. Those briefs were filed on June 10, 2019.

For several months, the case sat dormant. However, on January 31, 2020, the trial court issued an order which not only found in favor of Respondent as to all causes of action against Appellant, it appeared that such order reflected an adoption of Respondent’s post-trial brief in its entirety. This January 31, 2020 order forms the basis of this appeal, and is referred to throughout this brief simply as “**the Order.**” Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on February 22, 2020.

For the reasons set out hereinafter, and for any other reason that may be apparent to the Court based on the record below, Appellant would respectfully request that the trial court’s decision granting judgment in favor of Respondent be reversed—if not vacated—in its entirety, and that the case be remanded for further proceedings consistent with the decision to be rendered by this Court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **A. High-Level Overview**

This case arises from a factoring agreement. At the risk of explaining to the Court what it already knows, factoring is a type of financial transaction in which a business sells its accounts receivable to a third party at a discount. Though there are many risks to factoring, it can be a useful financial-management tool for participants in an industry where there are long lead-times between performing work and payment, as well as significant overhead to carry. For these reasons, it is not uncommon to see participants in the construction industry use factoring agreements, and in fact, this case presents one such circumstance.

### **B. Discussion of Specific Factual Circumstances**

On September 24, 2010, Respondent entered into a factoring agreement with Defendant Dunlap, Inc. (“**Dunlap**”). (Tr. 20:23-21:7.) A true and accurate copy of the factoring agreement is included in the record on appeal, and is referred to hereinafter as “**the Factoring Agreement**.” Respondent is a South Carolina company principally engaged in making accounts receivable financing available to its customers. (Tr. 4:15-16.) Dunlap was a South Carolina company who was principally engaged in the business of providing industrial coating services (*e.g. painting at commercial and industrial facilities*). It is Appellant’s understanding that Dunlap is no longer in business.

During or about November 2014, American Electric Power awarded a substantial construction contract to a general contractor, who, in turn, subcontracted a certain scope of that work to Appellant. Appellant then subcontracted the industrial-paintings-and-coatings portion of its work to Dunlap. (Tr. 5:15-17.) In that connection, during October 2015,

Appellant and Dunlap entered into an agreement to memorialize their subcontracting relationship. A true and accurate copy of this agreement is included in the record on appeal, and is referred to hereinafter as “**the Subcontract Agreement.**”

To fulfill its scope of work, Dunlap procured materials and equipment from third parties. More specifically, materials were procured from an Ohio company known as “Carboline;” equipment was rented from Hertz Equipment Rental Company, now known simply as “HERC.” (See Appellant’s Tr. Ex. 3, CLASSIC00039-CLASSIC00041.)

In March 2016, Dunlap was factoring its accounts receivables with Respondent for work done in furtherance of the Subcontract Agreement. (Or. at 3.) In general, this process consisted of two parts: (1) Dunlap would submit an invoice for services rendered to Appellant; and (2) Dunlap would also submit a work completion form—in a format prepared by Respondent—to Appellant. (Tr. 10:17-25.) Each invoice would identify the work that Dunlap had performed during the reporting period and the total balance due for that period. (See, e.g., Respondent’s Tr. Ex. 1, Invoice Dated Mar. 28, 2016.) Each invoice also included the following advisory, signed by a Dunlap representative:

For value received, we [Dunlap] hereby assign and transfer this invoice and its proceeds to Associated Receivables Funding, Inc.[,] who is the owner of this invoice unencumbered by any other security or claims, and pursuant to the master agreement. The undersigned does herewith assign all lien rights, chooses in action, chattel paper or contract rights. We further certify that the goods have been shipped and/or services have been rendered in agreement with all terms and conditions.

(Id.; see also Respondent’s Tr. Ex. 1, Invoice Dated Apr. 12, 2016, for a more legible example.)

Each work completion form—which, again, was in a format prepared by Respondent—that pertained to a particular invoice contained similar information, but

consisted of two separate certification-style statements. (See, e.g., Respondent’s Tr. Ex. 1, Work Completion Form Dated Apr. 12, 2016.) The first certification was made by Dunlap, and it affirmed that the work reflected on the pertinent invoice “has been satisfactorily completed,” and further, “that payment for this invoice is not contingent upon any other work being completed.” The second statement (authored by Respondent) was Appellant’s, and—because its language is central to this appeal—is quoted in full below:

I certify that the above work has been completed in full, all invoicing for material used has been provided to project designee. The work performed has been inspected and complete payment should be processed to PO Box 16253, Greenville, SC 29609.

(Id.)

Each of the work completion forms was required to be signed by representatives of both Dunlap and Appellant, then transmitted to Respondent. Upon receipt of Dunlap’s invoice and associated work completion form, Respondent would then decide whether to purchase any specific Dunlap invoice. (Tr. 10:17-25.) Meanwhile, regardless of Respondent’s purchase decision, Appellant would submit invoices—both its own and Dunlap’s—to the general contractor. When payment was received from the general contractor, and to the extent that Dunlap was owed anything, Appellant would tender payment to Dunlap (or its assignee) as directed.

For the purposes of these proceedings, the first factored invoice at issue that Dunlap submitted to Appellant was dated March 2016—March 28, 2016, to be precise. (Or. at 3.) During April 2016, Appellant became suspicious that certain of Dunlap’s suppliers, who Dunlap had used in furtherance of its obligations under the Subcontract Agreement, had not been paid. (Tr. 33:9-17.) Appellant immediately demanded proof from Dunlap to assuage these concerns. (Tr. 33:20-34:1.) Initially, Dunlap provided Appellant with

written assurances that Dunlap's suppliers were being, or would be, paid. (Appellant's Tr. Ex. 3, CLASSIC00039-CLASSIC00041.) But these assurances proved false. Consequently, on May 12, 2016, and pursuant to the Subcontract Agreement, Appellant issued a notice of default to Dunlap, giving Dunlap five days within which to provide conclusive assurance that its suppliers had been paid. (Appellant's Tr. Ex. 4, May 12, 2016 Ltr. from Appellant to Dunlap.) Dunlap was unable to cure its default. Accordingly, by letter dated May 17, 2016, Dunlap was terminated as Appellant's subcontractor. (Appellant's Tr. Ex. 5, May 17, 2016 Ltr. from Appellant to Dunlap.)

There is no question that Dunlap's termination was warranted. But it was not without consequence. First, and perhaps most immediately, Appellant had to assess whether and to what extent Dunlap had failed to pay its suppliers. This burden fell to Appellant, since Dunlap's nonpayment for materials used in furtherance of the Subcontract Agreement could very easily have resulted in the imposition of a lien against the entirety of the project, which, in turn, would have likely jeopardized Appellant's further involvement in the project. Ultimately, Appellant determined that Dunlap had failed to pay both Hertz and Carboline, and made payments to those third parties to satisfy any lien claims they may have against the project. Specifically, Appellant paid Hertz approximately \$142,000.00, (Tr. 43:1-2); Carboline was paid approximately \$37,000.00, (Tr. 44:23-25).

The second consequence of Dunlap's termination continues to play out in these proceedings. Between March 28, 2016 and May 9, 2016, Dunlap factored a total of fifteen (15) invoices with Respondent; the face value of these invoices was \$202,390.92, (Tr. 10:14-16), though at the time of default, Respondent was owed only \$189,822.36, (Tr. 9:4-6). As explained in the foregoing paragraph, when Appellant received payment of these

invoices from the general contractor, the vast majority of such proceeds were used to satisfy the claims to payment of those that Dunlap failed to pay. Quite obviously, Dunlap did not use the money generated from the sale of its accounts receivable to pay its suppliers. It is not clear how Dunlap used the proceeds raised from factoring; presumably, the cash was frittered away. Regardless, Respondent was thrust into a position of insecurity as to its own repayment.

Appellant empathizes with Respondent's position. But empathy is not a substitute for liability. And, under the circumstances described above, as well as the reasons discussed below, Appellant is not liable for Respondent's financial losses. Respondent's opportunities for recourse are limited to Dunlap, through the Factoring Agreement, and to the individual who personally guaranteed Dunlap's payment and performance of the obligations established in the Factoring Agreement.

## ARGUMENT

As described above, Appellant takes exception to each and every aspect of the trial court's Order, and in particular: (1) the determination of Appellant's liability under South Carolina Code § 36-9-607; (2) the determination of Appellant's liability under negligent misrepresentation; (3) the determination of Appellant's liability under promissory estoppel; and (4) the trial court's determination as to the amount of damages for which Appellant is liable. Each of these matters is considered in turn.

**I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN HOLDING APPELLANT LIABLE FOR RESPONDENT'S DAMAGES UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA CODE § 36-9-607, IN DEROGATION OF APPELLANT'S RIGHTS UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA CODE § 36-9-404.**

**A. Identification & Translation of the Portion of the Order at Issue**

In relevant part, the trial court held as follows:

Pursuant to [S.C. Code § 36-9-607], a secured party may enforce the obligations of an account debtor and exercise the rights of the debtor with respect to the obligation of the account debtor. See S.C. Code § 36-9-607[(a)(3)]. A secured party's rights, however, are subject to all terms and conditions of the agreement between the account debtor and assignor and any defense or claim in recoupment arising from the transaction that gave rise to the contract unless an account debtor has made an enforceable agreement not to assert claims or defenses. See S.C. Code § 36-9-404[(a)(1)].

(Or. at 4.)

These provisions may be written in English, but they are not necessarily plain. Consequently, and for everyone's benefit, the undersigned has attempted to translate the foregoing paragraph into something more digestible.

The first term-of-art in the language quoted above is "secured party." It describes "a person in whose favor a security interest is created or provided for under a security agreement, whether or not any obligation to be secured is outstanding," as well as "a person

to which accounts, chattel paper, payment intangibles, or promissory notes have been sold.” S.C. Code § 36-9-102(72)(A) & (D).

The next term-of-art is “account debtor.” It describes “a person obligated on an account . . . .” Id. § 36-9-102(3). An “account . . . means a right to payment of a monetary obligation . . . for services rendered or to be rendered . . . .” Id. § 36-9-102(2)(ii).

The next term-of-art is “debtor,” which is distinct from an “account debtor.” A “debtor”—under the Uniform Commercial Code, or U.C.C.—means “a seller of accounts . . . .” Id. § 36-9-102(28)(B).

The final two terms to address are “assignor” and, by implication, “assignee.” These are not defined in the Code sections pertaining to the U.C.C., and therefore, should be given their ordinary meanings. Very simply, an assignor is a party who makes an assignment; an assignee is a party who receives an assignment.

When a party enters into a service contract with a service provider, and the service provider renders performance under the contract, a right to payment is created in favor of the service provider. That right to payment is an account; the party obligated to make payment is the account debtor. The service provider, in turn, can sell the account to a third party. If it does so, under the language of the U.C.C., the party selling an account becomes a debtor; the purchaser of the account becomes the secured party. Additionally, because the account seller—*a/k/a* the debtor—is assigning its right to payment on the account to the account buyer—*a/k/a* the secured party—the seller is also known as the assignor, and the buyer is known as the assignee.

Applying the foregoing explanation to the circumstances of this case, Appellant is the party who entered into a contract with the service provider; the service provider is

Dunlap; and the account buyer is Respondent. Consequently, consistent with the language of the U.C.C.: (1) Appellant is the account debtor; (2) Dunlap is both the debtor and the assignor; and (3) Respondent is both the secured party and the assignee.

With this understanding of the terminology, the pertinent provisions of the trial court's Order, quoting the U.C.C., can be more readily deciphered:

Pursuant to S.C. Code § 36-9-607, Respondent may enforce the obligations of Appellant and exercise the rights of Dunlap with respect to the obligation of Appellant. See S.C. Code § 36-9-607(a)(3). Respondent's rights, however, are subject to all terms and conditions of the agreement between Appellant and Dunlap [*i.e.*, the Subcontract Agreement] and any defense or claim in recoupment arising from the transaction that gave rise to the contract unless Appellant has made an enforceable agreement not to assert claims or defenses. See S.C. Code § 36-9-404(a)(1).

(Cf. Or. at 4.)

Even when translated, the foregoing provisions are still cumbersome to read, especially since they describe a fairly simple proposition: With regard to Appellant's payment obligations, Respondent steps into the shoes of Dunlap—and is subject to the same terms and conditions of Dunlap's agreement with Appellant (the Subcontract Agreement)—unless Appellant has made some other enforceable agreement (either with Dunlap or Respondent) to not assert claims or defenses against making payment to Dunlap.

So far, so good. But then, the trial court's Order takes a hard turn toward error:

In the matter at hand, [Appellant] agreed not to assert defenses or claims against payment of each Dunlap Invoice to [Respondent], when [Appellant] represented to [Respondent] that the work was inspected and “complete payment should be processed” to [Respondent]. . . . This Court finds that the ordinary, plain meaning of “should” is the past tense of shall and, accordingly, connotes a duty or obligation. . . . As [Appellant] obligated itself to process complete payment to [Respondent], [Respondent], in accordance with [South Carolina Code § 36-9-607], is entitled to enforce [Appellant's] obligations under the Dunlap Invoices.”

(Cf. Or. at 4-5.)

These conclusions constitute legal error and must be reversed.

**B. Standard of Review**

Assuming—though not conceding—that South Carolina Code § 36-9-607 (referred to hereinafter as simply “§ 9-607”) creates a private right of action through which Respondent may seek relief against Appellant, see, e.g., Forest Capital, LLC v. BlackRock, Inc., 658 F. Appx. 675, \*16-17 (4th Cir. Aug. 10, 2016) (construing Maryland’s version of § 9-607, which appears identical to South Carolina’s, to hold that a private right of action does not exist under § 9-607), such an action would seem to be an action at law. “In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the appellate court’s standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law. . . . The trial judge’s findings of fact will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge’s findings.” Electro-Lab of Aiken v. Sharp Constr. Co. of Sumter, Inc., 357 S.C. 363, 367, 593 S.E.2d 170, 172 (Ct. App. 2004) (citations omitted).

**C. The trial court committed reversible error in concluding that Appellant had entered into an enforceable agreement with Respondent by which Appellant agreed to refrain from asserting available claims or defenses against payment to Dunlap.**

The trial court’s ruling is explicit as to the basis of the alleged agreement by which Appellant supposedly agreed to refrain from asserting claims or defenses against payment. According to the Order, the agreement was formed by each and every of the work completion forms that Appellant submitted to Respondent in furtherance of Dunlap’s efforts to factor its accounts receivable. (Or. at 4.)

Before examining this conclusion any further, there is an important point that merits special attention: In the absence of the alleged agreements formed by the work completion

forms, there is no other basis to assert the existence of any agreement by which Appellant waived its claims or defenses against payment. The court's Order does not identify another basis; Respondent has never articulated another basis; there is no other agreement between Appellant and Dunlap, other than the Subcontract Agreement; and certainly, Appellant has not knowingly subjected itself to any other form of agreement with Respondent or Dunlap. In fact, at trial, Respondent expressly disclaimed having any contractual relationship with Appellant whatsoever. (Tr. 26:11-18; 29:16-18.) The entire validity of Respondent's ability to obtain recovery against Appellant under § 9-607 hinges on whether any of the work completion forms constitutes a valid, enforceable agreement. They do not.

The elements of a valid, enforceable agreement—that is, a contract—are not mysterious. The existence of a contract requires an offer, an acceptance, and an exchange of valuable consideration. See, e.g., Carolina Amusement Co. v. Conn. Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 313 S.C. 215, 220, 437 S.E.2d 122, 125 (Ct. App. 1993) (citation omitted).

“An offer is the manifestation of willingness to enter into a bargain, so made as to justify another person in understanding that his assent to that bargain is invited and will conclude it.” Id. (citation omitted). It has also been described as “a promise to do or refrain from doing some specified thing in the future conditioned on the other party's acceptance.” Joseph M. Perillo, Calamari & Perillo on Contracts § 2.5 (5th ed. 2003). Perhaps most succinctly stated, an offer is a promise of future payment or performance.

But, as noted above, an offer—even if accepted—does not form a valid, enforceable contract unless the parties have exchanged valuable consideration. “Valuable consideration may consist of some right, interest, profit[,] or benefit accruing to one party[,] or some forbearance, detriment, loss[,] or responsibility given, suffered[,] or undertaken by

the other.” McPeters v. Yeargin Constr. Co., 290 S.C. 327, 331, 350 S.E.2d 208, 211 (Ct. App. 1986) (citation omitted). Importantly, a party’s promise to perform what it is already legally bound to do does not constitute valid consideration. See, e.g., Rabon v. State Fin. Corp., 203 S.C. 183, 186-87, 26 S.E.2d 501, 502 (1943). To summarize, a party’s consideration is valid only if it represents a change in that party’s legal rights or posture. And, to drive the point home, both parties must give consideration in order for an agreement to attain the status of a contract.

For these very reasons, the trial court’s determination that the language of the work completion forms constitutes a valid, enforceable agreement must necessarily fail. As noted above, each work completion form contains the following statement:

I certify that the above work has been completed in full, all invoicing for materials used has been provided to project designee. The work performed has been inspected and complete payment should be processed to PO Box 16253, Greenville, SC 29606.

(See, e.g., Respondent’s Tr. Ex. 1, Work Completion Form Dated Apr. 12, 2016.)

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