THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000320  
Trial Court Case No. 2018-CP-23-05208

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 14 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Associated Receivables Funding, Inc., .....Respondent,

v.

Dunlap, Inc.; James Stephen Dunlap, an Individual; Dunlap Industrial Coating Services, Inc.;  
Dunlap Industrial Services, Inc; Classic Industrial Services, Inc.; and Mark Beuerle, an  
Individual,..... Defendants,

Of Which, Classic Industrial Services, Inc., is..... Appellant.

---

**RESPONDENT ASSOCIATED RECEIVABLES FUNDING, INC.'S

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PRESEVE ISSUES UNDER THIS APPEAL**

"A party must file [a Rule 59(e), SCRCF] motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review." *Elam v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, at 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, at 780 (2004). In this matter, Appellant did not file any motions pursuant to Rule 59, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and accordingly, matters

not raised and ruled upon are not preserved for appellate review. (Id.) This includes, but is not limited to, the following arguments of Appellant:

1. Whether there existed a legally cognizable offer to form an agreement between Appellant and Respondent as to Appellant's agreement not to assert defenses or claims;
2. Whether the offer to form an agreement between Appellant and Respondent was ambiguous;
3. Whether there existed legally cognizable consideration to form an agreement between Appellant and Respondent as to Appellant's agreement not to assert defenses or claims;
4. Whether Appellant was already under an obligation to forward all Dunlap payments to Respondent by virtue of the work completion forms;
5. Whether Appellant's promise to process complete payment to Respondent was an obligation it was already legally bound to do;
6. Whether there is any evidence in the record to support the Circuit Court's implicit conclusion that consideration was given;
7. Whether the Circuit Court misapplied South Carolina Code §§ 36-9-404 or 607;
8. Whether the Appellant waived payment defenses in favor of Respondent;
9. Whether the word "should" as stated on the work completion forms is ambiguous;
10. Whether Appellant should be responsible for all work completion forms issued, even those issued in March 2016;
11. Whether the Respondent failed to meet its burden to prove each statement regarding "complete payment" was false when made;
12. Whether the Circuit Court could determine, with any certitude, which of the work completion forms contained false representations of fact at the time of their issuance;

13. Whether “complete payment” means payment in full or giving due regard to any of Appellant’s claims and defenses;
14. Whether Appellant occupied the position of a fiduciary with respect to Respondent;
15. Whether Appellant had a general duty to disclose information to Respondent;
16. Whether there is evidence in the record that suggests Appellant acted in derogation of any standard of care;
17. Whether Respondent failed to act reasonably in protection of its own interests;
18. Whether Respondent’s cause of action for negligent misrepresentation failed if Respondent failed to act reasonably in protection of its own interests;
19. Whether the Order, as written, is inconsistent in finding in favor of Respondent on both its causes of action for enforcement of its security interest and promissory estoppel;
20. Whether there were sufficient payment details to support a promissory estoppel cause of action;
21. Whether the interests of equity are served by fashioning an equitable remedy in favor of Respondent against Appellant;
22. Whether Appellant could be responsible for Respondent’s lost interest;
23. Whether the award of \$202,390.92 under Respondent’s promissory estoppel cause of action was appropriate; and
24. Whether Appellant’s set off rights, if any, applied to all three of Respondent’s causes of action.

**II. THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT COULD ENFORCE APPELLANT’S OBLIGATIONS AND EXERCISE THE RIGHTS OF THE DUNLAP WITH RESPECT TO THE OBLIGATION OF APPELLANT PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA CODE ANN. 36-9-607.**

Respondent incorporates the arguments from Paragraph 1 of the Circuit Court's January 31, 2020 Order and the arguments from Section I, above, as if restated herein verbatim. (R. pp. 13, 14).

**A. APPELLANT AGREED TO PROCESS COMPLETE PAYMENT TO RESPONDENT AND, THEREBY, AGREED NOT TO ASSERT ANY DEFENSES OR CLAIMS WHICH WOULD REDUCE COMPLETE PAYMENT**

In the matter at hand, Respondent offered to fund Dunlap's receivables and keep Dunlap available for work on Appellant's project if Appellant would change its position and waive any defenses it had to processing complete payment to Respondent on Dunlap's receivables. (R. p. 195, lines 2-6 and See, e.g., R. pp. 307-345). Appellant accepted Respondent's offer on each of the Dunlap Invoices. (Id.) By and through this exchange, Appellant received the benefit of Dunlap remaining on the project and Respondent received the benefit of Appellant agreeing to pay the Dunlap Invoices in full – a benefit Respondent did not enjoy until Appellant agreed to it. (R. p. 195, lines 2-6 and See, e.g., R. pp. 307-345). Accordingly, there was an offer, an acceptance and an exchange of consideration in order to support the agreement to process complete payment of the Dunlap Invoices.

**B. AS APPELLANT AGREED NOT TO ASSERT ANY DEFENSES OR CLAIMS WHICH WOULD REDUCE COMPLETE PAYMENT, RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO COMPLETE PAYMENT FROM APPELLANT**

As Appellant agreed to process complete payment to Respondent and, thus, waive any defenses or claims which would reduce complete payment in accordance with S.C. Code § 36-9-404(a)(1), Respondent was entitled to enforce Appellant's full obligations on the Dunlap Invoices in spite of the language of the subcontract between Appellant and Dunlap or any other defenses Appellant may have had. *See e.g. South Carolina Code § 36-9-607.*

### **C. THIS MATTER IS DISTINGUISHABLE FROM THE FACTOR KING CASE**

As a starting point, the decision reached in the *Factor King* case by the federal trial court in Louisiana on a summary judgment motion is clearly not binding upon this Court; especially when the parties resolved the matter out of court before the appellate court could provide review. *See e.g. Factor King, L.L.C. v. Block Builders, L.L.C., et al, United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, Court of Appeals Docket #: 16-30848, Document 00513724526 dated October 16, 2016.* Furthermore, the facts of the *Factor King* case are wholly distinguishable from the matter at hand. In *Factor King*, the secured party brought a breach of contract action against the account debtor based on subrogating into the debtor's shoes wherein the contract stipulated that the debtor's contract balances would be held in trust for the benefit of the debtor's subcontractors and were further subject to separate joint check agreements with debtor's subcontractors. *See e.g. Factor King, LLC v. Block Builders, LLC, 193 F. Supp 3D 651 (M.D. La. 2016).* Accordingly, *Factor King* should not be considered as persuasive authority with respect to Respondent's cause of action under *South Carolina Code* § 36-9-607. Instead, the Respondent asks that the Court look at the simple statutory construction of *South Carolina Code* § 36-9-404 which states that Respondent is subject to Dunlap's contract with Appellant unless Appellant agrees otherwise – which is precisely the circumstance of this matter wherein Appellant agreed to process complete payment of the Dunlap Invoices. *See e.g. South Carolina Code* § 36-9-404(a)(1).

### **D. CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court properly found that Respondent could enforce Appellant's obligations under the Dunlap Invoices and properly awarded judgment to Respondent in the amount of Two Hundred Two Thousand, Three Hundred Ninety and 92/100ths Dollars (\$202,390.92).

**III. THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT APPELLANT NEGLIGENTLY MISREPRESENTED TO RESPONDENT THAT COMPLETE PAYMENT SHOULD BE PROCESSED TO IT.**

Respondent incorporates the arguments from Paragraph 2 of the Circuit Court’s January 31, 2020 Order and the arguments from Sections I and II, above, as if restated herein verbatim. (R. pp. 14, 15).

**A. APPELLANT DID HAVE SPECIALIZED KNOWLEDGE AND THE HARM TO RESPONDENT WAS PATENTLY OBVIOUS**

For the foregoing reasons and as stated in the Order, in a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation, the duty of care is not requiring the defendant to take every possible care, much less to be right – it is simply the duty to exercise the care of a reasonable person under the circumstances. *See AMA Management Corp. v. Strasburger*, 309 S.C.213, 420 S.E.2d 868, 874 (Ct. App. 1992). In the matter at hand, Appellant, despite being made aware and knowing that Dunlap had failed to pay its subcontractors, routinely and in complete disregard for the foreseeable harm that could befall Respondent, represented to Respondent over and over that “complete payment should be processed” on the Dunlap Invoices in order to induce Respondent to fund Dunlap. (R. pp. 15). The fact that Appellant had been made aware of Dunlap’s breach is indeed specialized knowledge that, if disclosed to Appellant through the exercise of reasonable care, would have allowed Respondent to avoid this foreseeable harm.

**B. RESPONDENT ACTED PRUDENTLY BASED ON APPELLANT’S PROMISE TO PROCESS COMPLETE PAYMENT**

As discussed herein, Appellant agreed that complete payment should be processed to Respondent. Accordingly, based on those representations, there was no real interest to protect by Respondent performing further due diligence into Dunlap’s contractual relationships.

### **C. CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court properly found that Appellant negligently misrepresented to Respondent that complete payment should be processed to it and properly awarded judgment to Respondent in the amount of Three Hundred Twenty-Three Thousand, Seven Hundred Eighteen and 31/100ths Dollars (\$323,718.31).

#### **IV. THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT, AS THE DIRECT AND PROXIMATE RESULT OF RESPONDENT'S RELIANCE ON APPELLANT'S UNAMBIGUOUS PROMISE THAT COMPLETE PAYMENT SHOULD BE PROCESSED TO IT, RESPONDENT WAS DAMAGED.**

Respondent incorporates the arguments from Paragraph 3 of the Circuit Court's January 31, 2020 Order and the arguments from Section I, above, as if restated herein verbatim. (R. p. 16).

##### **A. APPELLANT MADE AN UNAMBIGUOUS PROMISE**

Despite Appellant's contentions otherwise, all the details regarding who will pay what amount and when are included in the Dunlap Invoices and the accompanying Work Completion Form. Specifically, Appellant promised to pay the complete amount on net 30 terms. (See e.g., R. pp. 307-345).

##### **B. NO INEQUITY INFLICTED UPON APPELLANT**

There is no dispute that the true bad-actor in the totality of this equation was Dunlap. That said, Appellant's position that the Circuit Court did not undertake any balancing of equities as between Appellant and Respondent is in complete disregard for the Court's findings that Appellant, itself, was a bad actor by falsely representing "to Plaintiff that 'complete payment should be processed' to Plaintiff on the Dunlap Invoices despite having knowledge since April 2016 that Dunlap had not paid its subcontractors or suppliers." (R. p. 16). As Appellant was in the best position to prevent the harm that arose by and through its knowledge of Dunlap's default, there is no inequity inflicted upon Appellant in this matter.

**C. CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court properly found that, as the direct and proximate result of Respondent relying on Appellant’s promise that “complete payment should be processed”, Respondent was damaged and properly awarded judgment to Respondent in the amount of Two Hundred Two Thousand, Three Hundred Ninety and 92/100ths Dollars (\$202,390.92).

**V. AFFIRMANCE ON ANY GROUND APPEARING IN RECORD.**

Respondent expressly asks that the Court affirm the Circuit Court’s January 31, 2020 Order upon any grounds appearing in the Record on Appeal pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent Associated Receivables Funding, Inc. respectfully asks this Court to affirm the Circuit Court’s judgment against Appellant Classic Industrial Services, Inc.